RECEIVED

08-21-2019

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP2124-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,
vs.

KENNETH J. HEINRICH,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF
CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING
POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY,
HONORABLE STEVEN G. BAUER, CIRCUIT
COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

David R. Karpe
Wisconsin State Bar No. 1005501
448 West Washington Avenue
Madison, Wisconsin 53703
Tel. (608) 255-2773

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Questions Presented

1. Were three counts of bail jumping multiplicitous where they were based on a single bond, as single condition of bond and a single incident of violating that bond?

What the circuit court found: The circuit court found the counts were not multiplicitous.

What the Court of Appeals should hold: The three counts are the same in law, the same in fact, and the legislature did not intend multiple punishments.

2. Was there a lack of a factual basis for Mr. Heinrich's no contest pleas, rendering the plea involuntary?

What the circuit court found: There was an adequate factual basis for the plea because "bail" is not the same as "bond."

What the Court of Appeals should hold: There was an inadequate factual basis for the plea because “bail” and “bond” mean essentially the same thing for the purposes of Wis. Stat. § 969.13(1), so the bond had previously been revoked by operation of law based upon Mr. Heinrich’s violation of bond months prior to the day of the present offense.

Statement on Oral Argument And Publication

Mr. Heinrich would not oppose the Court’s holding an oral argument, but publication of the decision is unlikely because this is an appeal of misdemeanor convictions. The decision is thus likely to be a one-judge decision under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)(f). *See* Wis. Stat. § Rule 809.23(1)(b)4.

Relevant Statutory Provisions

Wis. Stat. § 969.13(1) states,

If the conditions of the bond are not complied with, the court having jurisdiction over the defendant in the criminal action shall enter an order declaring the bail to be forfeited.

Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a) states,

Whoever, having been released from custody under ch. 969 intentionally fails to comply with the terms of his or her bond is: If the offense with which the person is charged is a misdemeanor, guilty of a Class A misdemeanor.

Statement of the Case

The Defendant-Appellant, Kenneth J. Heinrich, appeals from convictions and sentences after being found guilty of the misdemeanor crimes of Theft of Movable Property, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a), Carrying a Concealed Knife, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 941.231, Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.573(1), and three counts of Bail Jumping, in violation

of Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). Mr. Heinrich was sentenced as a repeater under Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(a), because he had been convicted on October 11, 2013, of the felony crime of Escape in Dodge County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2013CF230, which conviction remained throughout the case at bar (and remains to this day) unreversed, and thus the normal misdemeanor sentence lengths were enhanced.

The case began on March 1, 2017, when the State filed a criminal complaint charging Mr. Heinrich with Theft from a Person (class G felony), Carrying a Concealed Knife, Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, and three counts of Bail Jumping, all as repeaters. R1.¹ The case was bound over on March 9, 2017, following Mr. Heinrich's waiver of preliminary hearing, R6, and the State filed an information with the same counts on March 22, 2017. R10. The State

¹This brief will use the following system for citing to the record: R followed by the item's number according to the clerk's record followed, if applicable, by a colon and page number, *e.g.*, R1:2 for the second page of the criminal complaint.

filed an amended information on June 27, 2017, R20, which appears to be different than the original information only in that it states the defendant's date of birth and excludes his address.

On August 4, 2017, Mr. Heinrich pleaded no contest to Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, and three counts of Bail Jumping, all as repeaters. R25, R26, R85. The factual basis for the plea was the following, which is quoted verbatim from the criminal complaint:

From the report of Officer Birch. On Sunday, February 26, 2017, at approximately 7:23 p.m., I, Officer Birch, of the Mayville Police Department, was in the City of Horicon assisting Horicon Police Department on an unrelated call. Dodge County dispatch informed me that there was a theft in progress of a cash register at Sherwood Family Restaurant, located at 1145 Horicon Street, in the City of Mayville, County of Dodge, State of Wisconsin. I immediately started towards that location. As I was en route, dispatch also informed me that the suspect was a 48 to 50 year old white male with jeans, blues jean jacket, and curly brown hair. The suspect was not recognized by anyone in the restaurant and fled on foot towards downtown. There was approximately \$2,000 in the register at the time it was taken and the register was thrown on the ground. The caller

was later identified as an employee, [ND]. I traveled to Sherwood Family Restaurant to make contact with the witnesses. Upon arrival, I observed an upside down register in numerous pieces in the parking lot near the restaurant. There were four people standing around it. I recognized one of the people in the parking lot as [DL]. Two of the people stated they were employees of the restaurant and verbally identified themselves as [ND] and [CS]. The fourth person verbally identified herself as [FEK] and informed me that she was the owner of the restaurant ... All parties informed me they witnessed the incident inside the restaurant. [ND] informed me that the register was left where the suspect dropped it and it had not been touched. Photographs were taken of the register and its location in the parking lot. It was then collected and placed inside my patrol vehicle for safe keeping while I obtained more information from the witnesses until the cash register could be transported to the Mayville Police Department. [FEK] informed me that during the incident she was in the back of the kitchen doing dishes. She said she did not see anything, but heard [ND] yell, "Call 911." She then rushed to the front of the restaurant and was informed that a customer took the cash register and ran outside with it. She then went outside and saw a male, who she later learned was [DL], pushing another male that was carrying the register. She also heard [DL] yell, "Drop the register." After being pushed, the suspect dropped the register in the parking lot and then pulled out a big dark knife from his right hip area. [FEK]

yelled “be careful” when she saw the knife and went back inside the restaurant. [FEK] informed me that she never saw the suspect’s face because she was standing behind [DL]. When I asked [FEK] to describe the knife, she stated she did not know what kind of knife it was, but it was not a kitchen knife. She stated the knife had a big handle that was dark. She also said the metal part of the knife was also dark in color. When I asked her how long the knife was, she held her hands in front of her about six inches apart, indicating the estimated length of the knife. I then interviewed [CS] who informed me that she was the waitress for the suspect. She stated the suspect informed her that he was very hungry. She suggested to him the Dagwood burger and fries, which he ordered, as well as four cups of coffee. [CS] stated she noticed that he smelled of alcohol while she was taking his order and that his hands were shaky. After the male finished eating, [CS] placed his bill on the table which totaled to \$10.23. When she placed the bill on the table, the male just said, “OK” and kept his head down and didn’t look at her. [CS] said that was not normal behavior for customers. She informed me that normally when customers are given the bill, they make eye contact, generally say thank you, look at the bill, and reach for their wallet to pay for their bill. [CS] had what she described as an odd feeling about him and told [ND] to watch him and to make sure he pays his bill before he leaves. [CS] then went back into the servers’ station of the restaurant to eat some of her meal that was back there. [CS] did not come back out to the dining

area until she heard [ND] yell “call 911.” By the time [CS] got to the dining area, the suspect was already outside. [CS] stated that the suspect was a white male, approximately 5’11” to 6’0” tall, skinny, 45 to 50 years old. She reported that he had brown curly or wavy hair with a light beard. She said he was wearing a jean jacket, blue jeans, and brown shoes. The suspect was also carrying with him a white plastic bag with miscellaneous items. She stated he did not have an accent or anything distinct about his voice. [CS] said he did not have tattoos or scars that she noticed, but he did not take off his coat. She also said he was not wearing glasses. I asked her if it looked like he had just come from a store after buying the items in the bag. She did not believe so because she said the items looked older. She recalled seeing a folded shirt in the bag, cigarette wrapping papers, and a leather item. [CS] could not remember seeing what store the bag was from. I then interviewed [ND] She informed me that when the suspect came into the restaurant, she sat him down in a booth near the northeast corner of the restaurant at approximately 7:10 p.m. She then took his drink order of a cup of coffee. [ND] reported that he smelled of cigarette smoke and alcohol. [ND] thought the male was a little fidgety but nothing too unusual. She stated he came into the restaurant alone and no one joined him throughout the course of his meal. [ND] informed me that [CS] waited on him and she did not have contact with him again until he was done with his meal. Towards the end of his meal, [CS] told [ND] to keep a close eye on the male

because she had a feeling that he was going to try to leave without paying his bill. When the male walked up to the register, she went behind the register station. He began checking his pockets saying, "I know I had \$20.00." [ND] suggested that maybe he left his money in his booth. They both went over to the booth, but there was no money found by the booth where he was sitting. [ND] turned around and saw the male standing back up by the register and saw him tug on the register cord. This concerned her so she hurried back up to the register station. Once she got back to the register, she thought that he maybe accidentally hit the register cord while reaching for a pen. The male continued to insist that he had \$20.00 and again checked his pockets and wallet. [ND] stated she could see several plastic cards inside of his wallet but was not able to identify any stores, credit cards, or names on the cards. [ND] suggested again that maybe he had dropped his money near where he was sitting. [ND] began walking toward the booth where he was seated. She was approximately five steps away between the first and second row of tables closest to the register when she turned around to speak with the suspect when she saw him grab the register on either side of it near the bottom and run towards the door. As this was happening, [ND] yelled, "Hey, hey, hey, call 911!" When the suspect ran out the door, she called 911. I next interviewed [DL]. He informed me that he was at the restaurant having dinner with his father and several other people. His attention was caught when [ND] yelled, "Hey, hey, hey!" He then saw a man

rushing out the door. [DL] got up and ran out of the restaurant after him. They both exited through the south door. Once exiting the restaurant, he saw the male holding the cash register running south. [DL] pushed him with two open hands on his back while yelling, "Drop the register." The male fell, dropping the register on the hood of a silver Mercury with registration plates of 525ZAM. The vehicle was estimated to be in the second or third parking stall south of the door. When the suspect dropped the register on the vehicle, he fell between it and another vehicle that was parked next to it. While the suspect was on the ground, he reached to his right hip with his left hand pulled out a dark matte knife and was holding it towards him. [DL] reported that he said, "Don't even think about it." The man then got up and ran south. [DL] felt the male threatened aggressive behavior and he feared for his safety. [DL] then went back inside to tell his dad what had happened. [DL] stated that he was not injured during the altercation. In addition to the description that was already given, [DL] recalled the suspect's hair was slightly graying. He also said the suspect was wearing a red flannel shirt under his jean jacket. [ND] estimated there to be eleven customers in the restaurant during the incident. She informed me that everyone she had talked to inside the restaurant did not recognize the suspect. Written statements were collected from [ND, CS, K and DL]. A No Consent was collected from [FEK] for the damage to the cash register which was estimated to be worth approximately \$300.00. A second No Consent form

was obtained for the meal the suspect did not pay for in the amount of \$10.23. Crime Victim forms were also provided to [ND]. It should be noted that [FEK] does not know if the suspect was able to take any money out of the register because she did not touch or open the cash drawer after the incident. When I found the cash register lying in the parking lot outside, it had multiple bills sticking out of the drawer but the drawer was still closed. [FEK] informed me she did not give the subject permission to take or damage any of the restaurant's property.

From the report of Det. Hockers. On Monday, February 27, 2017, I, Detective Hockers, of the Mayville Police Department, followed up on this case in an attempt to identify the suspect in this case, a description of the subject was placed on the Mayville Police Department Facebook page. There was a phone call made to the police department by an individual who observed a male white subject matching the description of our suspect in this case. That caller observed the suspect and identified him as having the first name of "Kenny". The caller stated Kenny was at Sidelines Bar, in Mayville, Wisconsin, on Sunday, February 26, 2017, between 4:30 and approximately 6:00 p.m. The subject who called stated Kenny was wearing a denim jacket and some type of red flannel shirt underneath the jacket. The subject was also carrying a white plastic bag and had his own rolled cigarettes. The caller stated Kenny was acting like he was "out of it" and stated they believe Kenny may use heroin and other drugs. The caller was not

positive of Kenny's last name; however, I was later able to identify that the suspect would be Kenneth J. Heinrich. I also had the opportunity to meet with [ND] who is one of the witnesses at Sherwood Family Restaurant. I met with her at the Mayville Police Department where she advised me and gave me the description of the suspect who she saw. That description does match the description of Heinrich. She was also able to tell me that while the suspect was at Sherwood Restaurant on the night of this occurrence, he was carrying a white, plastic bag, much like a Piggly Wiggly type bag. Inside of the bag was some type of brown box with equipment to roll his own cigarettes. On Monday, February 27, 2017, at 3:34 p.m., I received a text message from [CONVICTION] stating that Ken Heinrich just walked into Sidelines Tap and was wearing the same jacket and the same shirt as described yesterday. A short time later, [CONVICTION] called me back on the cell phone stating that Heinrich was carrying a white plastic bag and inside the bag were materials for rolling his own tobacco cigarettes. Myself, Captain Vossekuil, and Deputy Bauch, then went to Sidelines Tap where we made contact with Kenneth Heinrich as he was sitting at the west end of the bar consuming beer. He was wearing the same clothes that he had on the day of this incident. That was according to him later when I interviewed him. I explained to Heinrich that I needed to talk to him about a case. I asked him to step outside. When we stepped outside, I immediately asked him if he had any weapons on him. He stated he had a knife in

his back right pants pocket. At this time, I held his hands while Deputy Bauch reached in to grab the knife. She pulled out a black in color closing blade knife with a black blade on it. The knife brand is a SOG. I did not place Heinrich in handcuffs as he was cooperative at this time. I transported Heinrich to the Mayville Police Department. I should also note that he was carrying a white plastic bag with items in the bag used to roll his own tobacco cigarettes. Also in the bag were some dirty clothes. At the Mayville Police Department, I placed Heinrich into an interview room. At this time, I conducted an audio recorded interview of Heinrich. I advised Heinrich of his Constitutional Rights by reading them to him. I then asked him if he understood his rights. He said he did. I asked Heinrich if he would be willing to talk to me about this case. He said he would be. As I began to talk to him about the case, he was denying that he was involved with stealing the cash register. He also denied that he was at Sherwood Family Restaurant. He stated he had been there, but it was several days in the past. I then explained to Heinrich that I had witnesses who described him as being there and identified him as the person being there for his incident. It didn't take long in talking with Heinrich when he stated that he was going to tell me the truth about this matter. He stated it was him who was at the family restaurant. He went there to eat and while he was sitting there eating he decided that he needed some money. When he got up to pay for his food, he said he told the clerk that he lost a \$20 bill. When the clerk turned to

look for the \$20 bill, he grabbed the cash register and ran out the door. He stated at this time the cord from the cash register got caught in the door. There was then what he called two other patrons who came out after him. One of the patrons had a shovel in his hand. At that point, Heinrich stated he was having a difficult time carrying the cash register and dropped the cash register on the ground where he picked up some cash that fell out of the cash register. He stated the amount he got was \$36.00. I asked him if he had a knife with him. Heinrich stated he did. He stated at one point he pulled the knife out because one of the patrons was coming after him with a shovel. Later in the interview, he somewhat backed off from the fact that he had a knife due to the fact I felt he believed he knew that he may be charged with using this knife in the commission of this crime. I should note that the knife that was found on Heinrich's person when we picked him up from Sidelines meets the description of the knife that was given to Officer Birch on the night of this incident. Heinrich went on to state that he has been out of work and has been looking for work, but does not have any money. In fact, he had to borrow money from an individual by the name of Matt so that he could sit at the bar and drink beer. Heinrich admitted to me that this was stupid of him to have tried to steal this cash register, but he needed the money. A full recording of my interview with Heinrich will be attached with this report and available upon request. I advised Heinrich that I would be taking him to the Dodge County Jail. I transported him with handcuffs on his

wrists to the rear of his body to the Dodge County Jail. I booked Heinrich into the jail on charges of theft from a person which is a felony, endangering safety with a dangerous weapon, and carrying a concealed knife. I referred the charge of carrying a concealed knife due to the fact that Heinrich admitted to me that he was a convicted felon and he cannot possess a firearm. I should note that I placed Heinrich under arrest at the Mayville Police Department at approximately 6:15 p.m. on February 27, 2017. While Heinrich was still in the interview room at the Mayville Police Department and I advised him that he would be placed under arrest. I asked him to stand up so I could search his pockets. I asked Heinrich if he had anything in his pockets that was going to poke me or hurt me. He stated he did not. He then reached into his right front pants pocket and pulled out a glass tube that was approximately 2 ¾ inches long. He threw it on the table in the interview room and stated “crack pipe”. I took the glass crack pipe into my custody and I will be referring charges for possession of drug paraphernalia.

Conditions of Bail In preparing this complaint, the undersigned has reviewed the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access System (CCAP), for the purpose of reviewing the record of the defendant. The complainant has reviewed such records in the past and found CCAP to contain accurate records. The defendant is currently under the conditions of bond in Dodge County Case No. 16CM247, which was signed on 7/19/16 and was in place and in full effect on the

date of the above-listed allegations. A mandatory condition of that bond is to not engage in further criminal behavior. Habitual Criminality and Prior Felony Conviction In preparing this complaint, the undersigned has reviewed the Wisconsin Circuit Court Access System (CCAP), for the purpose of reviewing the record of the defendant. The complainant has reviewed such records in the past and found CCAP to contain accurate records. The defendant is a habitual criminal as that term is defined in sec. 939.62. The defendant was convicted of Felony Escape in Dodge County Case No. 13CF230 on 10/11/13 for an offense committed on 8/14/13. The conviction remains unreversed and of record.

R1: 3-9.

As part of the plea agreement, three other cases (17CT138, 17CM88, and 16CM247) were dismissed but read-in, and the State agreed to waive its right to a jury trial on the remaining two counts, *see infra*. R26:1, R85:6. The judge asked the State, “What are the bases for the misdemeanor bail jumpings?” to which the parties agreed that the only bond in question was that in 2016CM247, and that Mr. Heinrich had violated that bond by committing a

new crime while on that bond. R85:13-14.

The court went on to discuss with Mr. Heinrich the bases for the bail jumping charges:

Judge Bauer: So you understand they have to prove these misdemeanor bail jumpings, they're all separate crimes, you're out on one bond but what they said is you committed separate crimes that caused this — that basically makes these separate misdemeanor bail jumpings; do you understand that?

Mr. Heinrich: My understanding is that I was on bond for a disorderly conduct, that's — and the condition was is that no drinking, no drugs, no condition was is that no drinking, no drugs, no committing crimes, and that by me committing a theft and possessing drug paraphernalia which is not — I did, I'm guilty of that ... that's two of 'em and the third one, possessing a knife, from what I understand that's a new law and I was unaware that a felon ain't supposed to carry a knife, so I guess that would be the third one then.

R85:14-15.

The remaining charges, the felony Theft and the concealed weapon charge, proceeded to a bench trial on August 8, 2017. The main stipulation for that trial read, The State of Wisconsin, by ADA James Sempf, and the

defendant, by Attorney William Mayer hereby stipulate to the facts as contained in the criminal complaint as being a true and accurate account of what occurred in this matter on February 26, 2017. No one (including the owner) consented to the defendant[’s] taking and carrying away the cash register (and the defendant knew this). The defendant further admits that he decided while he was eating that he needed some money. He told the clerk that he had lost a \$20 bill in an effort to get her away from the cash register. When the clerk moved away from the cash register, he took the register and ran out the door. The defendant admits to being a convicted felon. The parties also agree, that the State may bring the knife, confiscated from the defendant, into evidence and that the Judge may decide from looking at this knife, whether the knife legally qualifies as a dangerous weapon.

R24.

The parties also stipulated that the victim was eight feet from the cash register when Mr. Heinrich took the register and ran out the door carrying it. R82: 5-6.

Further, the parties stipulated that Mr. Heinrich had a felony conviction for the purposes of the Carrying a Concealed Knife charge. R82:8. Mr. Heinrich also agreed that he had taken moveable property without consent on the

date in question. R82:12, 13.

The only witness to testify at the trial was Mr. Heinrich. He agreed he had eleven criminal convictions. R82:17. He testified that on February 26, 2017, he was broke and homeless. R82:17-18. He had not eaten for a couple of days when he went into the restaurant in Mayville with just a couple of dollars in his pocket. R82:19. He admitted that when the restaurant employee walked away from the counter, he grabbed the cash register, trying to avoid confrontation. R82:20.

Regarding the knife, Mr. Heinrich testified that he did not realize he could not carry a knife legally due to his felony status. R82:27.

After hearing the evidence and the arguments of counsel, the judge found Mr. Heinrich guilty of misdemeanor Theft (acquitting him of the felony) and Carrying a Concealed Knife. R82:48-50.

On September 6, 2017, Mr. Heinrich filed a motion to reconsider the circuit court's finding him guilty of

Carrying a Concealed Knife and one of the Bail jumping counts, that is, count four. R32. The circuit court denied that motion orally at the sentencing hearing on October 19, 2017, and proceeded to sentence Mr. Heinrich as a repeater to two years in prison on each of the six convictions, each sentence consisting of one year of initial confinement and one year of extended supervision. R90. The sentence on counts one through four all ran concurrently with each other, but the sentences on counts five and six (two of the bail jumping counts) ran consecutively to the other sentences and to each other, for a total sentence length of six years, that is, three years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision.

Mr. Heinrich filed a notice of intent to seek postconviction relief, and postconviction counsel was appointed. R53. On August 3, 2018, Mr. Heinrich filed a motion for postconviction relief, R65, which the circuit court denied without a hearing by written decision and order filed October 17, 2018. R68.

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