RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-24-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2018AP2124-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Kenneth J. Heinrich,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DODGE COUNTY, HONORABLE STEVEN G. BAUER, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JAMES T. SEMPF Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1054891

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Dodge County District Attorney's Office 210 W Center Street Juneau, Wisconsin 53039-1086 (920) 386-3610 (920) 386-3623 (Fax) james.sempf@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED HEINRICH'S POST-CONVICTION MOTION AND HEINRICH'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION.

I. Heinrich's satisfactory no-contest pleas constituted relinquishment of his opportunity to have the Court determine merits of his double jeopardy/multiplicity challenge.

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that no person shall "be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." U.S. Const. amend. V. In the Wisconsin Constitution, the Double Jeopardy Clause is located in Article I, Section 8(1) and reads, "no person for the same offense may be put twice in jeopardy of punishment...." WI CONST Art. I. Ş 8 "We view these provisions as 'identical in scope and purpose' and therefore accept the 'decisions of the United States Supreme Court as controlling interpretations of the double of both constitutions." Kelty. jeopardy provisions 2006 WI 101, ¶ 15, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886; State v. Davison, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 18, 263 Wis.2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1.

Double jeopardy applies to criminal punishments. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained multiplicity, or double jeopardy, claims as follows: Protection against multiple punishments or multiplicity involves three strains of analysis: (1) second sentence challenges in which a court is alleged to have improperly increased a defendant's first sentence for a charged offense; (2) unit-ofprosecution challenges in which the state is alleged to have improperly subdivided the same offense into multiple counts of violating the same statute; and (3) cumulative-punishment challenges in which the state is alleged to have improperly prosecuted the same offense under more than one statute.

Kelty, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 16, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886 (*citing State v. Davison*, 2003 WI 89, ¶ 26, 263 Wis. 2d 145, 666 N.W.2d 1).

Stated another way, double jeopardy applies in three situations—it protects against: 1) a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; 2) a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and 3) multiple punishments for same offense. *State v. Henning*, 2004 WI 89, ¶ 16, 273 Wis. 2d 352, 681 N.W.2d 871 (*citing North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969)).

This case presents a unit-of-prosecution challenge because Heinrich disputes his convictions of three counts of misdemeanor bail jumping for violating one condition of one particular bond in a single prosecution. (Def.'s Br. 24) Heinrich claims that it violated his right against double jeopardy to convict him of three counts of bail jumping and to impose consecutive sentence for those three counts because they were all based on a single bond, single bail condition, and "single criminal episode." (*Id.*)

On March 1, 2017, a criminal complaint was filed charging Heinrich with Theft From Person or Corpse, Repeater; Carrying a Concealed Knife, Repeater; Possession of Drug Paraphernalia, Repeater; and three counts of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping, Repeater; in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 940.20(1)(a) and (3)(e), 941.231, 961.573(1), 946.49(1)(a), 939.62(1)(b), and 939.62(1)(a). (R1) On March 9, 2017, Heinrich waived his preliminary hearing. (R6) An Information was subsequently filed with identical charges on March 22, 2017. (R10)

Heinrich plead no contest to all three counts of Misdemeanor Bail Jumping on August 4, 2017, expressly indicating his understanding that the three new crimes he was charged with were all violations of one bond. (R85:11) The circuit court engaged in a lengthy plea colloquy with Heinrich:

THE COURT: Okay. So you understand they have to prove these misdemeanor bail jumpings, they're all separate crimes, you're out on bond but what they said is you committed separate crimes that caused this—that basically makes these separate misdemeanor bail jumpings; do you understand that?

KENNETH HEINRICH: My understanding is that I was on bond for a disorderly conduct, that's—and he condition was is that no drinking, no drugs, <u>no</u> <u>committing crimes</u>, and that by me committing a theft and possessing drug paraphernalia which is not—I did, I'm guilty of that—

THE COURT: M·hm

KENNETH HEINRICH: --that's *two of 'em* and the *third one, possessing a knife*, from what I understand that's a new law and I was unaware a felon ain't supposed to carry a knife, so I guess *that would be the third one then*.

THE COURT: Yeah, well, that's what they're alleging; you understand that.

KENNETH HEINRICH: Yeah, that's my understanding, yeah, like that.

(R85:14-15 emphasis added) Subsequently, the circuit court explained that by pleading no contest, Heinrich was giving

up various constitutional rights and Heinrich indicated he understood. (R85:15-16)

"The general rule is that a guilty, no contest, or Alford plea 'waives all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims." *Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886; *quoting State v. Multaler*, 2002 WI 35, ¶ 54, 252 Wis.2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437. "Courts refer to this as the guilty-plea-waiver rule." *Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886; *See State v. Riekkoff*, 112 Wis.2d 119, 122–23, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983).

"We conclude that a guilty plea relinquishes the right to assert a multiplicity claim when the claim cannot be resolved on the record." *Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 2, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886. "When a defendant enters a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary guilty plea, the nature and effect of the plea necessarily mean that the defendant gives up the right to a fact-finding hearing on the propriety of multiple charges." *United States v. Broce*, 488 U.S. 563, 576, 109 S.Ct. 757, 102 L.Ed.2d 927 (1989).

Heinrich waived his right to challenge double jeopardy/multiplicity claims when he plead no-contest to the three bail jumping charges, expressly indicating his understanding of the three charges on the record. Heinrich's no-contest pleas were otherwise satisfactory and constituted relinquishment of his opportunity to have this Court determine merits of his double jeopardy/multiplicity challenge.

II. Plea withdrawal is not warranted because there was a factual basis for Heinrich's nocontest pleas.

"Before accepting a guilty plea, the circuit court must determine that a sufficient factual basis exists for the guilty plea, namely that a crime has been committed and it is probable that the defendant committed it." *State v. Payette*, 2008 WI App 106, ¶ 7, 313 Wis. 2d 39, 756 N.W.2d 423; Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). The inference of guilt need not be established beyond a reasonable doubt. *Payette*, 313 Wis. 2d 39, ¶ 7.

The court must discuss the factual basis for the charges for the plea to be knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *Lackershire*, 301 Wis. 2d 418, ¶ 34. "[T]he factual basis for a guilty plea may be established by reference to the allegations set forth in the criminal complaint." *State v. Sutton*, 2006 WI App 118, ¶ 17, 294 Wis. 2d 330, 718 N.W.2d 146. The question is whether the undisputed facts constitute the crime charged. *Lackershire*, 301 Wis. 2d 418, ¶ 48.

The factual basis requirement is different than the circuit court's other obligations at a plea hearing. State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. The factual basis requirement serves to protect a defendant who voluntarily pleads to a charge "with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." Id. (citation omitted). Thus, Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b) does not require "a defendant to personally articulate the specific facts that constitute the elements of the crime charged." Thomas, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 20. Instead, the factual basis must simply be developed on the record. Id.

To assess a defendant's motion to withdraw a guilty plea on grounds of an inadequate factual basis, a court may look at the totality of the circumstances, including the preliminary hearing record, the plea hearing record, the sentencing hearing record, and other portions of the record. *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 18.

Where the court fails to conduct a sufficient inquiry into the factual basis, this Court follows a *Bangert* procedure.

Lackershire, 301 Wis. 2d 418, ¶ 51. First, the defendant must "make a prima facie showing that the circuit court violated Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) or other plea colloquy requirements." *Id.* ¶ 52. Then, the defendant must allege a lack of understanding or knowledge of something the court should have provided at the plea hearing. *Id.*

In the present case, the circuit court used the criminal complaint to establish a factual basis for Heinrich's pleas with the consent of his trial counsel. (R85:17) That criminal complaint was provided verbatim in Heinrich's Brief. The circuit court found that under these circumstances, "[i]f the State were put to their proof, they would be required to prove up the condition in each bond. Each count would require proof of facts for conviction which the other two counts would not require because each bond would give rise to an individual factual inquiry." *State v. Eaglefeathers*, 2009 WI App 2, ¶ 12, 316 Wis. 2d 152, 762 N.W.2d 690. The circuit court found that the three counts of bail jumping are different in fact as each count would require proof that the defendant committed a different criminal offense. (R:68)

In fact, the circuit court discussed this exact issue with Heinrich during the plea colloquy previously quoted in this response. Specifically, the circuit court made sure that Heinrich understood he was charged with one count of bail jumping for committing a new crime for each of the three new crimes he committed (and was also charged with in the same criminal complaint).

Heinrich argues that no factual basis existed because he cannot be convicted of misdemeanor bail jumping for committing new crimes in the present case since he had already violated that same bond by committing an earlier crime and thus, his bail was already forfeited. (Def.'s Br.) Essentially, Heinrich argues that since he had already violated bond by committing new crimes earlier than the crimes in the present case, he was no longer on bond pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 969.13(1). (*Id.*)

Wis. Stat. § 969.13(1) addresses bail, not bond, and is not relevant to the issue. The circuit court agreed when it denied Heinrich's motions. (R:68) Heinrich was still on bond at the time the present crimes were committed, therefore a factual basis exists for all three bail jumping charges. As a result, the circuit court conducted a sufficient inquiry into the factual basis for Heinrich's no-contest pleas and Heinrich should not be permitted to withdraw them.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above, the State respectfully asks that this Court affirm the circuit court's denial of Heinrich's Post-Conviction Motion and Heinrich's Motion for Reconsideration.